Financing the HIV/AIDS Response in Sub-Saharan Africa Considering Priority Populations:

Going the Last Mile: Progress, Challenges and Next Steps

EVANSON F, GARMROUDI D, KIM L, LIANG C, RAJAGOPALAN A, RANSOM G, SALEM M, FALLON C, PANTER-BRICK C, AND BAINS A

> Yale JACKSON SCHOOL OF GLOBAL AFFAIRS Global Health Studies Program

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- Last-mile HIV/AIDS treatment and prevention are a central challenge of national governments and international organizations, considering the strides made in the last two decades combined with a recent plateau in overall progress.
- Sustainable financing becomes more important every year as international funding streams from PEPFAR, the Global Fund, and high-income countries decrease and domestic funding becomes a more integral part of programming.
- Although Malawi, Kenya, and South Africa have vastly different economies, prevalence rates, and population sizes, each case highlights the need to engage local communities for efficient service delivery, especially for women and children in rural areas, and for young people facing stigma. Prioritizing localized approaches, such as community health workers or regional analyses can help these countries transition from donor dependency.
- Donor dependency introduces a level of instability and uncertainty that can hinder the production of local infrastructures that build resilience. The dominant reliance on external funders for research has resulted in a lack of centralized research and data collection processes. This has led to the oversight of local risk factors.
- To ensure sustainable and effective responses to HIV/AIDS, robust partnerships must strike a balance between embracing integrated health systems whilst still ensuring momentum is maintained for the HIV and AIDS initiative. This requires investment in health infrastructure, fiscal sustainability, and a strong emphasis on financial accountability.





Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
Background	
Substantial Yet Slowed Progress	3
Recent Plateau and Remaining Challenges	3
with Priority Populations	
Funding Challenges	4
Financing	
Paradigm Shift in Global Health Financing	5
Case Studies	
Malawi	6
Kenya	7
South Africa	8
Recommendations	
Framework For Financing	9
Toolkits for Sustainable Financing	1C
Multidimensional Approach to Measure	11
Health Sustainability	
References	12

BACKGROUND

Substantial, Yet Slowed Progress

Over the past two decades, significant strides have been made in the global response against HIV/AIDS: 30 out of the 38 million people living with AIDS today are receiving life-saving treatment (UNAIDS, 2023). This progress has been strongest in Sub-Saharan Africa, a region disproportionately affected by the epidemic, with a strong decline in overall HIV prevalence and mortality rates. According to the 2023 UNAIDS Global Aids Update, substantial progress has been achieved in increasing access to antiretroviral therapy (ART), reducing new infections, and preventing mother-to-child transmission. Notably, increased access to HIV treatment resulted in 20.8 million AIDS-related deaths averted between 1996 and 2000, and vertical transmission programs have averted 3.4 million new infections in children since 2000 (PEPFAR, 2023). This comes as a result of the many partnerships across countries, communities, donors (including the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) and the Global Fund), and the private sector. Considering Sustainable Development Goal 3.3 to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030, it is evident that a new path has been forged towards achieving this goal.

Recent Plataeu and Remaining Challengeswith Priority Population

Although these efforts have been instrumental in reducing the global HIV/AIDS burden, there is strong, untapped potential for further improvements in HIV prevention. Particularly in many parts of Sub-Saharan Africa, extremely high risks of HIV infections leave cetain populations facing heightened vulnerability. To that end, as of 2022, around 58% of districts in Sub-Saharan Africa with a very high HIV incidence were not covered with dedicated prevention programs for adolescent girls and young women (UNAIDS, 2023). Moreover, antiretroviral therapy coverage for pregnant and breastfeeding women has leveled off over the last seven to eight years, in addition to a slowing decline in the number of new HIV infections in children (Figure 1). To prevent vertical transmission, the future HIV/AIDS response must pay special attention to children, women, and adolescents as priority populations. Beyond the burden of HIV/AIDS, prolonged structural factors such as gender inequalities, discrimination, and poverty stand in the way of many women and adolescent girls' economic and sexual autonomy, which are critical in supporting comprehensive

HIV response. Therefore, addressing gender disparities and focusing on the unique needs of communities in the context of HIV prevention and treatment are imperative for sustained progress. In addition, this brief will emphasize recommendations on the development of tangible, tailored strategies and interventions for priority populations to compose the global HIV/AIDS response moving forward. This next phase of the global response to HIV/ AIDS demands a targeted and comprehensive approach, ensuring that no one is left behind on the path to achieving the 2030 goals.



Figure 1: Numbers of new HIV infections among children (aged 0- 14) years and antiretroviral therapy coverage among pregnant and breastfeeding women, global, 2010-2022. From 2023 UNAIDS Global AIDS Update.

Funding Challenges

The Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS (UN-AIDS) estimates that there are 1.5 million children under the age of 14 years living with HIV/AIDS. Funding earmarked specifically for HIV/AIDS has historically been substantial, but both domestic and international funding has been declining (UNAIDS, 2022). Significantly, those receiving ART will require treatment for the rest of their lives (CDC, 2023), meaning countries must budget to support ART treatment for decades to come. This illustrates the challenge facing countries with high HIV prevalence-finding ways to continue existing levels of support amidst future funding challenges.

The total funding for HIV programming in low and middle-income countries declined by 2.6% from 2021 to 2022 (Figure 2). This decline in funding was driven primarily by a decrease in international funding, which declined by 3% over that same period, but also by a slight decrease in domestic funding. Because of these dynamics, the share of domestic funding has increased to 60% in 2022, up from 50%, in 2010, and similarly, the share of international funding has been decreasing, down from 50% in 2010 to 40% in 2022 (UNAIDS, 2022). While middle- income countries have been able to create domestic funding streams and programs, low- income countries without robust budgets have struggled to keep established programs funded at their current levels, as will be discussed later in this report.

A second challenge is the central but uncertain



Figure 2: Annual total HIV expenditures, showing the recent decline in funding over the last several years (solid red) and the gap between these expenditures and estimated requirements to meet UNAIDS targets (dotted red). From Roser and Ritchie (2023). HIV/AIDS. https://ourworldindata.org/hiv-aids.

role of the United States in HIV/AIDS prevention and treatment. Over the last few decades, PEPFAR, the United States government's main HIV program, has provided more than \$110 billion over its lifetime, including a scheduled total of \$4.9 billion in funding for the 2023 fiscal year (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2023). Similarly, the United States contributed 45% of the total budget for The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund, 2023). While this funding has been consistently reauthorized every five years over the past two decades, since its initial authorization in 2003 under President George W. Bush, the future status of PEPFAR and other funds for HIV/AIDS is uncertain. As the political battle over abortion in the United States rages on, PEPFAR has been caught in the crossfires as unsupported claims that it is used to support abortions led to opposition from anti-abortion lawmakers (Spitzer, 2023). Given the United States' central role in HIV/AIDS funding and the fact that many of the countries most affected by the global HIV crisis are those

whose significant poverty limits their ability to develop stable domestic financing streams, many low and middle-income countries will face challenges in the years to come. This report will outline how these countries can maximize their limited resources to fund HIV initiatives, with a particular focus on programming for priority populations, and provide case studies of these ideas in action.

FINANCING

Paradigm Shift in Global Health Financing

As noted above, a major obstacle hindering the implementation of HIV prevention and treatment programs is inadequate funding. This lack of funding is part of a larger paradigm shift in global health financing, both in the amount of funds available and the goals of global health financing. This shift is reflective of changing economic conditions, geopolitical climate, and global health crises like the COVID-19 pandemic which force a reevaluation of priorities. This is most evident in the Future of Global Health Initiatives (FGHI) 2023 Report (Witter et al., 2023). This report evaluates the progress made by Global Health Initiatives (GHIs) and provides recommendations for GHIs to fit within the current global health landscape. It notably emphasizes achieving Universal Health Coverage (UHC), advocating for country-led approaches, promoting sustainable financing models, and stressing the need for increased accountability and efficiency.

A critical aspect of this shift is the move from disease-siloed approaches to more integrated and cohesive health financing strategies, closely aligned with the overarching goals of UHC. "Disease-siloed approach" refers to a method of healthcare funding where resources are allocated to a specific disease. A notable drawback of this method is that it often results in vertical programs operating in isolation from each other, raising concerns about sustainability and coordination within the overall healthcare system. "Integrated health financing," on the other hand, involves consolidating resources and efforts to support a more holistic approach to healthcare. For The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (GFATM), this includes using their expertise to widen the scope of the work to include other relevant diseases and to ensure funding is matched to country-specific epidemiological needs. Of note, this shift has merits. The emphasis on sustainable development and

country ownership is necessary. By advancing towards models that favor UHC and integrated financing, countries are poised to build more.resilient health systems, something the COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated is necessary. This shift is also necessary as health interventions are most successful when they are adaptable to the local, cultural, and financial contexts. However, there are potential implications of shifting from a disease-siloed approach to funding.

LIMITATIONS

1. Challenges in Targeted Funding:

Disease- siloed funding, while having limitations, has been instrumental in providing targeted resources for specific health challenges like HIV/AIDS. This approach ensures dedicated funding and attention to the unique complexities of each disease. Moving away from this could potentially dilute the focus and resources specifically earmarked for HIV/AIDS, possibly slowing down the progress made in this area. This is especially relevant when considering priority populations, ensuring funds for targeted strategies against gender-based violence or vertical transmission.

2. Transition Period Challenges:

The transition from a disease-siloed approach to an integrated healthcare system will require time, during which there may be uncertainties and gaps in funding for specific diseases like HIV/AIDS. This period could temporarily impact the momentum and continuity of existing HIV/AIDS programs.

3. Risk of Overshadowing Specific Needs:

HIV/AIDS programs have specific needs distinct from other health initiatives. The shift towards integrated care might overlook these unique requirements, especially in areas like specialized treatment, stigma reduction, and community-based interventions. This could lead to a one-size-fits-all approach, which may not be as effective in addressing the nuances of HIV/AIDS care and prevention.

4. Deprioritization of Disease-Specific Expertise:

Specialized knowledge and strategies developed for HIV/AIDS might be underutilized or deprioritized in an integrated system. This could result in a loss of expertise and a decline in the quality of HIV/AIDSspecific interventions. The Global Fund's response to the report reflects its commitment to adapting to meet the changing needs of global health (FGHI Written Response, 2023). In it, they recognize the FGHI's goals to enhance GHI's support in countries whilst also preventing further fragmentation in the global health landscape. However, in their critique, the Global Fund presents concerns related to the methodology, structure, and factual accuracy of this report. Nonetheless, it is evident that Global Health Financing is shifting. The question at hand then becomes how to ensure causes like the HIV and AIDS initiative maintain their momentum while also considering priority populations and their specific financing needs.

CASE STUDIES

Malawi

Malawi is a low-income country with a population of 16 million and GNI of \$860 per capita (Geoffroy, Harries et al. 2014). Currently, Malawi maintains an HIV prevalence of 7.1% for adults aged 15 to 49 years, with a pattern of steady decline (UNAIDS 2022). Malawi has demonstrated significant strides in its response to the HIV/ AIDS epidemic, halving its HIV/AIDS prevalence over the past 10 years (Payne, Wadonda-Kabondo et al. 2023). Its response commenced with the implementation of the Short Term Plan in 1986, which evolved into the current National HIV/AIDS Strategic Framework (Mwale 2002). As the first country to sign onto the United States PEPFAR program in 2009, Malawi has shown long-term commitment to reducing HIV/AIDS (USAID 2023). Notably, the nation has achieved the second and third UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets well before the 2030 deadline, with 97.8% on treatment and 96.9% of those with viral suppression. (Payne, Wadonda- Kabondo et al. 2023). This 95-95-95 program strives to have 95% of adults living with HIV know their status; 95% of those who know their status on antiretroviral treatment (ART); and 95% of those on treatment with viral load suppression. In order to continue to make strides in HIV/AIDS progress, Malawi must identify and target its priority populations of adolescents and women across both urban and rural areas.

While Malawi has been successful in its overall HIV/AIDS response, it struggles in particular with heterogeneity across age, region, and gender. Currently, Malawi's prevention programs focus on condom use, pre-exposure prophylaxis, and prevention of mother-to-child trans

mission (Kabaghe, Singano et al. 2023). These prevention programs have successfully reduced new HIV infections, but adolescent girls and young women continue to be disproportionately at risk (UNAIDS 2022). USAID identified Malawi as a country with a high HIV burden with adolescent girls and women at particular risk; this is demonstrated by the UNAIDS Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe (DREAMS) project in Malawi which targets these priority populations (USAID 2023). Therefore, prioritizing interventions that address vulnerabilities, such as those targeting young women and efforts to rectify gender inequality, remains crucial.

Currently, large age disparities drive transmission patterns, especially from older men to younger women (Beauclair, Helleringer et al. 2016). Women in the age groups from 25 to 39 display HIV prevalence at a rate double that of men, reflecting their status as a vulnerable group (Project 2022). In particular, younger women face intimate partner violence at a much higher rate, with 28.1% of women aged 15-19 reporting partner violence compared to 23.6% of women aged 25-49 (UNAIDS 2022). Regardless of age, 24.3% of women report intimate partner violence; given that intimate partner violence has been linked to worse HIV/AIDS outcomes, Malawi must focus on reducing this statistic (Wetzel, Tembo et al. 2021). Children have lower access to HIV/AIDS treatment and knowledge of prevention programmes compared to adults. Approximately 84,000 children under the age of 15 years live with HIV (Kalembo, Kendall et al. 2019). Many more children face the impact of HIV/AIDS, with up to 80% of street children having been orphaned by HIV/AIDS (Mandalazi, Banda and Umar 2013).

These children thus face the dual challenge of losing their families and being put at higher risk for HIV/AIDS. Only 63% of children from 0-14 years old living with HIV have access to ART medicines, greatly impeding progress towards the 95-95-95 targets (UNAIDS 2022). This is in stark contrast to the 93% of adults receiving ART, thus identifying adolescents as a priority population (UNAIDS 2022).

Additionally, HIV/AIDS prevalence increases in rural areas that are isolated from healthcare facilities. The distance to primary and secondary care facilities increases from 10 kilometers in urban areas to 50 kilometers in rural to remote areas, identifying a weakness in Malawi's healthcare infrastructure (McBride and Moucheraud 2022). Currently, healthcare facilities are reachable by, on average, 85 minutes of walking (Palk, Okano et al. 2020). In addition, lack of spatial data regarding the directing of funding makes it difficult to strengthen geography-based prevention programmes. Healthcare infrastructure must be improved to minimize the average distance to the nearest healthcare facility as well as better recorded to granularly target high-risk urban neighborhoods and rural areas.

Malawi finances its HIV/AIDS response by relying almost entirely on external donors. While expenditure on HIV/AIDS totals 2.6 million, 2.5 million of this expenditure is sourced from international donors (UNAIDS 2022). These donors consist primarily of PEPFAR and the Global Fund, which compose 95% of its funding (PEP-FAR 2021, State. 2021). Given Malawi's high dependency on external funding, focusing on the sustainability of financing and projects is imperative.

Kenya

Kenya has a per capita GNI of \$2170, between that of Malawi and South Africa for a population of 54.02 million, and has an HIV prevalence among 15-49-yearolds of 3.7% as of 2022 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2021). This prevalence, combined with the fact that in 2019, 90,000 of the 1.4 million Kenyans living with HIV were under the age of 14, puts Kenya among the countries with the greatest number of women and children living with HIV (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021). Simultaneously, however, in the decade before COVID-19, Kenya made great strides in reducing vertical HIV transmission for these priority populations. Most importantly, the country has reduced the number of new HIV infections among children by 24% since 2010. The current challenge in Kenya is figuring out how to replace donor funding with national funding for a two- fold goal: to prevent further new infections in women and children and provide children with treatments in a more timely and sustained manner (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021).

Since 2013, Kenya has increased the proportion of their total budget allocated to health by 15% (U.S. Department of State, 2021). However, for every dollar that the domestic government spent on HIV in 2017, donors contributed 2.2 times more (McDade et al., 2021). Kenya faces key challenges in three areas, according to the PEPFAR Sustainability Index, where they receive support from donors such that their domestic health systems may collapse without this support. The first area is service delivery. Donors provide extensive technical assistance, and those living in informal settlements still

find it difficult to access health service points repurposed during COVID-19 (Bliss and Simoneau, U.S. Department of State, 2021). 40% of the population lives in these informal urban settlements, making it difficult for exposed children to get tested promptly (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021). Especially given that child- friendly versions of ART drugs are necessary to ensure that children survive, delayed testing has made it such that many children die of HIV before they reach the age of five (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021). A case study done in Nairobi found that healthcare workers at health service points were not well-trained enough, driving young people away due to stigma and discrimination from their peers (UNAIDS 2023). The second area is domestic resource mobilization. There is currently no institutionalized measurement program to track finances, meaning that donors are not reflected entirely in the national budget (McDade et al., 2021). Lacking centralized data collection programs makes it difficult to mobilize domestic resources in a targeted manner for women and children specifically, and to make a transition plan from donor dependency. The last area Kenya currently faces challenges with is the efficiency of health systems and the integration of HIV services into them. Currently, it takes weeks for test results to reach families, which means infants have a higher chance of dying if they are not given life-saving treatment fast enough (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021). Health systems currently do not have the funds to entirely support same-day point-of-care tests, however, which makes it difficult to integrate these into the primary care system (Bliss and Simoneau, 2021). Although Kenya faces these three challenges, they currently lead initiatives to both expand their community health worker programs and provide them with further training and stipends which has allowed them to make more progress. For example, in April 2023, Kenya announced that it would pay monthly stipends and the cost of insurance for 100,000 community health workers, most of whom are women (Wakhusama 2023). Community health workers can ensure that children and women who are at an increased risk of developing HIV stick to their treatment plans and can help with access to services, making them integral to Kenya's push towards independence from donors. Especially for women and children living in informal settlements where there is food insecurity, community health workers can also ensure that they do not skip doses due to lack of food (a current common practice for those who take ART with food). Further, integrating key leaders in the community into the healthcare system proved to be efficient in the analysis done in Nairobi, breaking down the stigma to establish friendly health service centers for kids (UNAIDS 2023).

Overall, if Kenya provides higher quality training for community healthcare workers, it could propel them into transitioning out of donor dependency in their HIV response.

South Africa

South Africa differs from our other case studies as it is a high-middle-income country with a GNI per capita of 6,780 USD (World Bank, 2022). The nation has one of the highest HIV prevalence of 18.8% with an estimated 7.8 million people living with the virus (Satoh and Boyer, 2019). Having a population similar to that of Kenya (59.8 million) and a relatively strong economy, South Africa serves as a unique case study.

Despite the daunting number of cases, South Africa has employed an extensive HIV/AIDS response over the past thirty years. South Africa's government has excelled in strong government effectiveness and control relative to similar states, according to the World Bank's Worldwide Governance Indicators (PEPFAR South Africa 2021). This is reflected in the massive gains South Africa has made towards the UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets. 94% of all people living with HIV are aware of their status, and impressively, the percentage of people who receive antiretroviral therapy has increased from 24% to 76% in twelve years (UNAIDS 2022). These strides in reducing HIV incidence are largely attributed to the spread of ART treatment and preventative measures such as condom promotion (Leigh et al, 2022). The South African government has funded a large share of treatment programs, whereas outside donors have driven significant shares of spending in prevention (Phaswana-Mafuya et al, 2023). This poses a threat to sustainability as the nation's transmission rate is still some of the highest in the world.

South Africa appears to be in a transitory stage with the hopes of moving towards a domestically financed HIV/ AIDS response. This entails implementing a national health insurance system that integrates HIV funding (Results for Development, 2017). South Africa can consider this move partly thanks to the way they have leveraged private sector engagement in combating HIV/ AIDS. This has led to innovative ways to provide service delivery and employ health workers. Because of the extensive private networks of pharmacies, health workers, and researchers, South Africa is well-positioned to scale up HIV services by increasing testing and initiating treatment programs (Dominus and Golub, 2018).

Ultimately, this transition for South Africa is unfeasible in the current day because prevention measures are mainly funded through external donors. External donors finance much of the outreach and research aimed at addressing the social and economic determinants of HIV (Guthrie et al, 2018). Donors like PEPFAR and the Global Fund have established the institutions and monitoring systems that make scaling preventative research and programs possible. However, this same infrastructure is not established within purely domestic channels. Some preventative measures that are essential to sustaining current progression include but are not limited to shifting towards community-centered approaches, maintaining TB/HIV integrated testing effectiveness, facilitating localized donor coordination and accountability measures, and critically factoring in the HIV risks for adolescent girls and young women (AGYW).

Adolescent girls and young women are an inordinate amount of the population living with HIV/AIDS. It is crucial to employ risk analyses on a provincial and district level to better understand the structural and biological factors contributing to high transmission rates amongst these priority populations. Domestic funding is the only form within South Africa that is relegated directly to the provincial and district levels (Guthrie et al, 2018) meaning the research and prevention measures implemented through external organizations have a more generalized scope. This contributes to large epidemiological oversights. AGYW are facing unique challenges influenced by local contexts, including varying levels of education, healthcare infrastructure, home environment, and social norms (Houle et al, 2020; Hill et al, 2018). By focusing on localized approaches, researchers can tailor community-specific interventions and foster community engagement. to increase health outcomes.

Thus, the South African government must build its disease prevention infrastructure through global health partnerships, so that it may move away from its reliance on external funding.

The South African case study highlights the potential drawbacks of prioritizing country ownership without considering the sustainability of the response and without clearly exploring the differences in where international and domestic funding is being allocated. This oversight can be detrimental to the current progression and illustrates the importance of catering to priority populations.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Framework for Financing



Figure 3: Framework for financing of HIV/AIDS initiative. This framework outlines how to approach the shift from disease-specific funding towards a more integrated health financing approach.

Continued and increased financing is paramount to ending AIDS in children by 2030. Current financing mechanisms, largely siloed and disease-specific, have been successful in initiating global responses to HIV/ AIDS as evident in the UNAIDS report. However, in addition to continued financing, these mechanisms need to adapt to ensure long-term sustainability. The integration of these funds into broader health initiatives can yield comprehensive care models if done properly.

In this report, this proposed framework (Figure 3) emphasizes a progressive shift from traditional, disease-specific financing towards a more robust and integrated health financing system. This recommendation will allow for a transitionary period and ensure the HIV and AIDS initiative remains properly funded without losing its momentum.

Immediate actions require securing and increasing the financial support for ongoing HIV and AIDS initiatives. This would also ensure necessary prevention and treatment strategies are in place to maintain the momentum necessary for the HIV and AIDS initiative. The ultimate goal is to fully integrate HIV/AIDS services into national health systems, ensuring that they are a seamless part of universal health coverage. This goal also encompasses complete domestic financing and strong country ownership concerning HIV/AIDS. This framework would consider the FGHI's recommendation, focusing on country-led approaches with an emphasis on integrated health strategies.

The following were identified as key transitionary stages:

1. Strengthen Partnerships:

Establish strong, multi-sectoral partnerships, particularly local community ties and public-private partnerships (PPPs), to leverage the unique strengths of each sector. Such partnerships can drive localized responses to HIV/AIDS, ensuring interventions are culturally appropriate and community-endorsed.

2. Invest in Health Systems:

Investments should focus on building the infrastructure necessary to support the effective delivery of HIV/AIDS services. Strengthening the health system is vital, from enhancing the capabilities of the healthcare workforce to ensuring facilities are equipped to manage the complexities of HIV/AIDS treatment and care. Investing in both community health workers and point-of-care services can integrate HIV/AIDS services better into primary care. Combining rapid diagnostic services with long-term follow-up can ensure that those in rural areas, especially children who require life-saving ART urgently, are not adversely affected by a lack of health service points.

3. Financial Accountability:

Establish robust financial oversight mechanisms to ensure transparency and accountability. This involves implementing cost-effective strategies that maximize the impact of HIV/AIDS funding and ensure that every dollar is accounted for and directed towards impactful interventions.

4. Fiscal Transition:

Countries must prepare for a gradual reduction of external aid by developing clear transition plans that outline the path to fiscal sustainability. This includes fostering domestic resource mobilization and creating resilient strategies to sustain HIV/AIDS funding without over-reliance on international support.

5. Sustainable Financing:

A crucial consideration within financing is sustainability, as this ensures that present needs are met without compromising those of future generations. Focusing on this model, it is essential to recognize that health falls within the social component of the environmental, social, and governance framework (Beton, 2023). Therefore, health should not be an isolated concern but should be understood in conjunction with other factors. Consequently, a comprehensive approach to financing the principles of the UN's sustainable development goals is necessary for health financing and progress. Essentially, sustainable financing involves integrating long-term ESG considerations into decision-making (Beton, 2023).

Toolkits for Sustainable Finance

Delving into the nuances of sustainable financing, several toolkits emerge as viable means to achieve sustainable finance objectives.

1. Sumptuary taxes, exemplified by the implementation of levies on items like alcohol, tobacco, and sugar-sweetened beverages, not only bolster financing and improve health outcomes but also reduce longterm sector spending needs (Beton, 2023). A systematic literature review on the effect of sin taxes on potentially harmful goods in Latin America showed that sin taxes are linked to reduced consumption, increased revenues, and a positive contribution to overall population health (Miracolo et al., 2021). Furthermore, these targeted taxes can extend beyond products directly linked to negative health outcomes. Consider the implementation of a congestion tax in Stockholm, Sweden, which not only resulted in reduced air pollution levels but also contributed to a decline in respiratory illnesses like asthma (United Nations Environment Programme, 2019). This underscores the effectiveness of broad sin taxes applied to issues like pollution control, waste management, and environmental conservation in not only fostering positive health outcomes but also in diversifying country income streams to continue to finance broader health programs.

2. Strategic commercial investments

emerge as a crucial strategy to strengthen health systems by directing targeted funds into specific industries and fostering the growth of the private sector. While the primary source of domestic financing for African countries currently lies in tax collection, the scale of required infrastructure projects, future initiatives, and large-scale projects necessitates exploring alternative funding channels (Eyraud, 2021). Investing in the African private sector presents advantages, focusing on the potential of its youthful population and abundant natural resources to drive advancements in healthcare (Eyraud, 2021). Consequently, these strategic investments can catalyze the development of local sectors, including pharmaceuticals. Currently, the reliance on imported pharmaceutical products in Africa is high, reaching up to 70%, and local vaccine production capabilities address less than 1% (African Development Bank, 2022). Therefore, by fostering the establishment and improvement of local pharmaceutical capacities, African nations can reduce global dependence, ensure supply security, and promote wealth creation on a broader scale (African Development Bank, 2022).

3. Lastly, **risk management programs** employ instruments to recognize, evaluate, and mitigate financial risk exposure associated with ongoing projects and investments, therefore, enduring the success of these endeavors. These programs may include debt restructuring, blended finance, credit enhancement, and/or matching programs, all to drive investment while working to reduce the financial and political risk associated with such investment (Beton, 2023).

In conclusion, these diverse financial tools and strategies represent not just methods to develop existing infrastructure and engage the private sector, but pathways to drive holistic economic growth across low- and middle-income countries. When used strategically, these toolkits have the potential to encourage diversification, decrease dependence on specific sectors, drive independence, and ultimately reduce the future reliance of low- and middle-income countries on foreign financing sources. This ensures a more sustainable and resilient trajectory for both present and future generations.

Multidimensional Approach to Measure Health Sustainability

While developing approaches and toolkits to achieve financial sustainability is significant, it is crucial to acknowledge that we cannot fix systems we cannot measure (Beton, 2023). Hence, it is important to develop frameworks and metrics to measure the progress of sustainable finance initiatives within health. As emphasized earlier, evaluating the sustainability of health financing in the context of public health challenges, such as the HIV/ AIDS epidemic, transcends mere examination of health outcomes like HIV prevalence rates, ART uptake, and morbidity. Instead, it demands a comprehensive approach that factors in diverse dimensions, encompassing environmental, social, and economic metrics. Even within these realms, various measures can be applied. Originally designed for evaluating sustainability in Indian healthcare, Figure 4 presents an essential conceptual model and a comprehensive approach for assessing sustainability in healthcare at large (Mehra & Sharma, 2021). It assesses sustainability across three dimensions, emphasizing various sub-measures within each dimension. More importantly, this multi- dimensional approach emphasizes two main key points: the greening of healthcare optimizes the environmental, social, and economic performance of healthcare, and indicators for a sustainable healthcare system should be grounded in the pursuit of holistic "health" care rather than exclusively "sick care" (Mehra & Sharma, 2021).

These dimensions and metrics are not exhaustive. Instead, countries must collaborate and establish a similar model, with a consensus on the specific metrics to assess success in health and HIV/AIDS financing. However, the essential point is that these metrics should encompass multiple sectors, acknowledging that health is a product of our broader global environment.



Figure 4:

Concept model for sustainability in healthcare adopted from Mehra R., & Sharma, M. K, 2021

How to Cite

Evanson F, Garmroudi D, Kim L, Liang C, Rajagopalan A, Ransom G, Salem M, Fallon C, Panter-Brick C, and Bains A (2024) Financing the HIV/AIDS Response in Sub Saharan Africa Considering Priority Populations: Going the Last Mile. Policy Brief, Global Health Studies Program, Jackson School of Global Affairs, Yale University.

REFERENCES

- African Development Bank. (2022, April 15). Pharmaceutical Action Plan A new frontier for African Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Industry. https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/new-frontier-african-pharmaceutical-manufacturing-industry
- Beauclair, R., S. Helleringer, N. Hens and W. Delva (2016). "Age differences between sexual partners, behavioural and demographic correlates, and HIV infection on Likoma Island, Malawi." Sci Rep 6: 36121.
- Beton, H. (2023). The Roadmap To Sustainable Finance In Health: A Toolkit for G20 & G7 Countries and Developing a Taxonomy for Health. G20 and G7 Health and Development Partnership. https://g20healthpartnership.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/G20-RE-PORT-Dlgital-V2.pdf
- Bliss, K. E., & Simoneau, M. (2021). Kenya's Pediatric HIV Response under Covid-19. Center for Strategic and International Studies. https://www.csis.org/analysis/kenyas-pediatric-hiv-response-under-covid-19
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023, November 21). HIV Treatment https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/livingwithhiv/treatment.html#:~:text=All%20people%20with%20HIV%20should,or%20how%20healthy%20they%20are.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023, September 8). Kenya Country Profile https://www.cdc.gov/globalhivtb/wherewe-work/kenya/kenya.html
- Cities leading the way to achieving key targets in the HIV response (2023). UNAIDS. Retrieved December 12, 2023, from https://www. unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2023/september/20230927_cities-leading-the-way
- Department of State, (2021). "2021 Malawi Sustainability Index and Dashboard Summary. https://www.state.gov/wp-content/up-loads/2022/06/Malawi.pdf".
- Dominis, S. and Golub, E. (2018). Leveraging the private health sector to expand the HIV/AIDS workforce. Primer. Rockville, MD: Sustaining Health Outcomes through the Private Sector Plus Project, Abt Associates.
- Eyraud, L., Pattillo, C., & Selassie, A. A. (2021, June 14). How to attract private finance to Africa's development. IMF blog. https://www.imf. org/en/Blogs/Articles/2021/06/14/blog-how-to-attract-private-finance-to-africa-s-development
- Geoffroy, E., A. D. Harries, K. Bissell, E. Schell, A. Bvumbwe, K. Tayler-Smith and W. Kizito (2014). "Bringing care to the community: expanding access to health care in rural Malawi through mobile health clinics." Public Health Action 4(4): 252-258.
- Guthrie T, Chaitkin M, Khoza N, Zulu N, Madisha V, Ndlovu N, Shezi S, Karume J, Motsoeneng P, Simelane S, Meyer-Rath G, Masuku S, Jamieson L, and Ghai K. (2018). Consolidated Spending on HIV and TB in South Africa (2014/15–2016/17). Pretoria: National Department of Health; Washington, DC: Health Finance & Governance Project, Results for Development Institute.
- Hill, L. M., Abler, L., Maman, S., Twine, R., Kahn, K., MacPhail, C., & Pettifor, A. (2018). Hope, the Household Environment, and Sexual Risk Behaviors Among Young Women in Rural South Africa (HPTN 068). AIDS and behavior, 22(6), 1908–1918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-017-1945-9
- Houle, B., Yu, S. T., Angotti, N., Schatz, E., Kabudula, C. W., Gómez-Olivé, F. X., Clark, S. J., Menken, J., & Mojola, S. A. (2020). Clusters of HIV Risk and Protective Sexual Behaviors in Agincourt, Rural South Africa: Findings from the Ha Nakekela Population-Based Study of Ages 15 and Older. Archives of sexual behavior, 49(6), 2057–2068. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-020-01663-5
- https://futureofghis.org/research-other-inputs/written-responses-to-reimagining-the-future-of-global-health-initiatives-study/
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). (2023). The Path That Ends AIDS: 2023 UNAIDS Global Aids Update. https:// thepath.unaids.org/wp-content/themes/unaids2023/assets/files/2023_report.pdf
- Kabaghe, A. N., V. Singano, D. Payne, A. Maida, R. Nyirenda, K. Mirkovic, A. Jahn, P. Patel, K. Brown, M. Farahani, F. Kayigamba, L. Tenthani, F. Ogollah, A. Auld, F. Zulu, W. Msungama and N. Wadonda-Kabondo (2023). "Awareness of and willingness to use oral pre-exposure pro-phylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention among sexually active adults in Malawi: results from the 2020 Malawi population-based HIV impact assessment." BMC Infect Dis 23(1): 712.
- Kaiser Family Foundation (2023, July 26). PEPFAR Reauthorization: Side-by-Side of Legislation Over Time. https://www.kff.org/global-health-policy/issue-brief/pepfar-reauthorization-side-by-side-of-existing-and-proposed-legislation/
- Kalembo, F. W., G. E. Kendall, M. Ali and A. F. Chimwaza (2019). "Prevalence and factors associated with emotional and behavioural difficulties among children living with HIV in Malawi: a cross-sectional study." BMC Psychiatry 19(1): 60.
- Lewis, L., Kharsany, A. B. M., Humphries, H., Maughan-Brown, B., Beckett, S., Govender, K., Cawood, C., Khanyile, D., & George, G. (2022). HIV incidence and associated risk factors in adolescent girls and young women in South Africa: A population-based cohort study. PloS one, 17(12), e0279289. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279289
- Leigh, J., Meyer-Rath, G., Dorrington, R., Puren, A., Seathlodi, T., Zuma, K., & Feizzadeh, A. (2022). The Effect of HIV programs in South Africa on national HIV incidence Trends, 2000–2019. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 90(2), 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1097/ qai.00000000002927

- Mandalazi, P., C. Banda and E. Umar (2013). "Street children's vulnerability to HIV and sexually transmitted infections in Malawian cities." Malawi Med J 25(1): 1-4.
- McBride, K. and C. Moucheraud (2022). "Rural–Urban Differences: Using Finer Geographic Classifications to Reevaluate Distance and Choice of Health Services in Malawi." Health Systems & Reform 8(1): e2051229.
- McDade K. K., Munge K., Kokwaro, G., Ogbuoji, O. (2021). Reducing Kenya's health system dependence on donors. Brookings. Retrieved December 12, 2023, from https://www.brookings.edu/articles/reducing-kenyas-health-system-dependence-on-donors/
- Mehra, R., & Sharma, M. K. (2021, December 13). Measures of Sustainability in Healthcare. Sustainability Analytics and Modeling. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2667259621000011
- Miracolo, A., Sophiea, M., Mills, M., & Kanavos, P. (2021, April 22). Sin taxes and their effect on consumption, revenue generation and health improvement: a systematic literature review in Latin America. Academic.oup.com. https://academic.oup.com/heapol/article/36/5/790/6246142
- Mwale, B. (2002). "HIV/AIDS in Malawi." Malawi Med J 14(2): 2-3.
- Palk, L., J. T. Okano, L. Dullie and S. Blower (2020). "Travel time to health-care facilities, mode of transportation, and HIV elimination in Malawi: a geospatial modelling analysis." Lancet Glob Health 8(12): e1555-e1564.
- Payne, D., N. Wadonda-Kabondo, A. Wang, J. Smith-Sreen, A. Kabaghe, G. Bello, F. Kayigamba, L. Tenthani, A. Maida, A. Auld, A. C. Voetsch, S. Jonnalagadda, K. Brown, C. A. West, E. Kim, F. Ogollah, M. Farahani, T. Dobbs, A. Jahn, K. Mirkovic and R. Nyirenda (2023). "Trends in HIV prevalence, incidence, and progress towards the UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets in Malawi among individuals aged 15-64 years: population-based HIV impact assessments, 2015-16 and 2020-21." Lancet HIV 10(9): e597-e605.
- PEPFAR (2021). "Malawi population-based HIV impact assessment 2020-2021. Document Management System. (n.d.). https://dms.hiv. health.gov.mw/dataset/malawi-population-based-hiv-impact-assessment-2020-2021".
- PEPFAR South Africa (2021). Sustainability & Index Dashboard. https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/South-Africa.pdf
- Phaswana-Mafuya, R. N., Phalane, E., Sisel, H., Motsieloa, L., Journeay, K., Dubula, V., Sibeko, J., & Ramothwala, P. (2023). Country ownership and sustainable programming of the HIV response in South Africa: A scoping review. Southern African journal of HIV medicine, 24(1), 1511. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhivmed.v24i1.1511
- Project, P. (2022). "Summary sheet | March 2022 Malawi Phia Project. (n.d.). https://phia.icap.columbia.edu/wp-content/up-loads/2022/03/110322_MPHIA_Summary-sheet-English.pdf".
- Roser and Ritchie (2023). HIV/ AIDS. https://ourworldindata.org/hiv-aids
- Results for Development. (2017, August 4). HIV financing integration in South Africa: Policy scenarios and feasibility analysis | Results for Development. https://r4d.org/resources/hiv-financing-integration-south-africa-policy-scenarios-feasibility-analysis/
- Satoh, S., & Boyer, E. (2019). HIV in South Africa. The Lancet, 394(10197), 467. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(19)31634-4
- Spitzer, G. (2023, September 29). What's behind the debate to re-authorize PEPFAR, the widely hailed anti-HIV effort? NPR. https://www. pr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2023/09/29/1201935134/what-would-it-mean-if-pepfar-the-widely-hailed-anti-hiv-effort-isnt-reauthorized
- The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. (2023, November 15). Goverment and Public Donors. https://www.theglobal-fund.org/en/government/
- UNAIDS (2022). "Focus on: Malawi. UNAIDS. (n.d.). https://www.unaids.org/en/20190402_country_focus_Malawi ".
- UNAIDS (2022). "Malawi. UNAIDS. (2019, July 11). https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/malawi ".
- UNAIDS. (2023, July 13). 2023 UNAIDS Global AIDS UpdateUNAIDS. (2023, November 21). 2023 World AIDS Day Factsheet https://www.naids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS
- United Nations Environment Programme (2019). Reducing Pollution and Health Impacts through Fiscal Policies: A Selection of Good Practices. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/33580.
- SAID (2023). "Dreams: Partnership to reduce HIV/AIDS in adolescent girls and young women: Basic page. U.S. Agency for International Development. (2023a, September 21). https://www.usaid.gov/global-health/health-areas/hiv-and-aids/technical-areas/dreams ".
- USAID (2023). "HIV/AIDS: Malawi: Global health. U.S. Agency for International Development. (2023, June 30). https://3exwww.usaid.gov/ malawi/global-health/hivaids ".
- Wakhusama, W. (2023, March 2). Community Health Workers: The Lifeline of Primary Health Care in Kenya. Financing Alliance for Health. https://financingalliance.org/community-health-workers-the-lifeline-of-primary-health-care-in-kenya/
- Wetzel, E. C., T. Tembo, E. J. Abrams, A. Mazenga, M. J. Chitani, S. Ahmed, X. Yu and M. H. Kim (2021). "The relationship between intimate partner violence and HIV outcomes among pregnant women living with HIV in Malawi." Malawi Med J 33(4): 242-252.
- Witter, S., Palmer, N., James, R., Zaidi, S., Carillon, S., English, R., Shifa, H., Tan, J., Hane, F., Loffreda, G., Venables, E., Hosseinalipour, S.-M., Ridde, V., Bertone, M. P., Faye, A., & Amp; Blanchet, K. (2023). Reimagining the Future of Global Health Initiatives. Future of Global Health Initiatives.
- World Bank Group. (2021, September 27). Climate Explainer: Concessional Finance. World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ feature/2021/09/16/what-you-need-to-know-about-concessional-finance-for-climate-action
- World Bank Group. (2022). World Bank Open Data. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=ZA
- Written responses to reimagining the future of Global Health Initiatives Study. FGHI. (2023).



Yale JACKSON SCHOOL OF GLOBAL AFFAIRS Global Health Studies Program